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[PUBLISH]

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

No.1511788

D.C. Docket N03:13-cv-00079BJD-JRK

TYQUISHA M. STAMPER

Plaintiff-Appellant,
Versus

DUVAL COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD

DefendantAppellee

Appeal from the United States District Court
for theMiddle District of Florida

(July 18, 201y

BeforeED CARNES Chief Judge, WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge, and
MOORE; District Judge.

WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge

" Honorable K Michael Moore, United States District Chief Judge for the Southern District of
Florida, sitting by designation.
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This appeal requires us to decide whetherEqual Employment
Opportunity Commissiorevived an employee’s claim of discriminatien
otherwise barred by the statutdiafitations—when itvacatedatwo-yearold
dismissal otheemployee’s administrative charge and the Department of Justice
isstedthe employee aew notice of the right to sue hemployer. If the
Commission cannot, we muatsodecide whether the employee®ntalhealth
condition equitably tolled thiemitations periodor her claim of discriminatiorin
2007, TyquishaStamper filedvith the Commissiom chargef raceand disability
discrimination against her employer, the Duval County School Board, 42 U.S.C.
882000e2,12112. In 2009, the Commission dismissed Stampenarge and
providedhernotice ofher right to su¢he Boardwithin 90 days, buStamper failed
to file suitwithin that periodin 2011, sefiled a request for reconsideratianth
the Commission, which tharacated the dismissal of her first charglee
Department of Justice latgrantedStamper’'sequest foma new notice oherright
to sue about the same allegations of discriminaaodshefiled suitwithin 90
daysof the second notic8ut the district court dismissed Stamper’'s complaint as
untimely because she failed to fitevithin 90 days of receivinthe first notice of
herright to sue and failed to establigtat she was entitled to equitable tolling of

the limitationsperiod Becauseéhe Commission lackeithe authority to issue the
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second notice aheright to sue and Stamper failed to estabdislwas entitled to
equitable tolling we affirm.

. BACKGROUND

In 2007, Stamper filed with the Commissiarchargeof raceand disability
discriminationagainsthe Board.On February 26, 2009, the Commission
dismisedher charge becaugecould not ‘tonclude that the information obtained
[in its investigation] establishe[d] violatisof the statutes.” ThEommissioralso
providedStamper notice that sloeuld file alawsuit against thBoard based on
the conduct alleged imercharge within 90 days of her receipt of the notice
Stamper failed to file suwithin that period

More thantwo years later, on July 19, 2011, Stamper filed a request for
reconsideratiomvith the CommissionOn December 15, 2011, the Commission
sent Stamper a “Notice of Resattion” that“vacate[d] th[e] dismissal [of
Stamper’s first charge] and revoke[d] the letter terminating processinpadf th
charge."The Commission stated that it issuedbéceunder a regulation that
permits the Commission to reconsider a decision to dismiss a cBaep®. C.F.R.
§1601.19(b).

Stamper then filed a second charge againdBtized based on the same
allegationgn herfirst charge andsherequeste@nother notice ofierright to sue,

which theDepartment of Justice sent her on Nobem5, 2012The Department of
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Justice, instead of the Commission, issued the second notice of Stamper’s right to
suebased on a regulation thaguires that the Attorney General issue the notice of
the right to suevhen a partyiles a chargagainsia government, governmental
agency, opolitical subdivisionand requests a notice of the right to.ss®e?29
C.F.R. 81601.28(dj2). Whether the Commission or the Department of Justice
iIssued the second noticetberight to sue makes no difference instlaippeal.

On January 8, 2013 Stampeffiled apro secomplaint against the Board
that alleged that haddiscriminated against her on the basis of racedessability
in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act42 U.S.C. 000e.et seqg.and
Title | of the Americans with Disabilities Adt. 8 12111 et seq and caused her
to develop catatonic schizophrenlde Board moved to dmiss the complaint as
untimely because Stamper failedsteewithin 90 daysof receivingthefirst notice
of her right to sueThe district court agreethat Stamper’'s complaint was
untimely, but deniedthe motion to dismissvithout prejudice to permit limited
discovery abouivhether equitable tolling was warranted. After discovery, the
district court granted summary judgment in favor ofBleard It found that
Stamper could have pursukdr lawsuit within theriginal 90-day periogdand
even if she could ndtave done sashe failed to justifhermorethan threeyear

delay in filing sut.
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1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“This Court reviewsle novosummary judgment rulings and draws all
inferences and reviews all evidence in the light most favorable to themoaing
party.” Craig v. Floyd Cty,.643 F.3d 1306, 1309 (11th Cir. 2011) (quotigton
v. Cowart 631 F.3d 1337, 1341 (11th Cir.2D).

[11. DISCUSSION

We divide our discussion in two parts. First, we explain $tamper’'s
complaint is untimely becausiee second notice of her right to suéssued after
her original limitations period @ired—failed to revive the limitations period.
Second, we explain that Stamper failed to establish that she is entitled to equitable
tolling based on her psychiatric condition

A. Stamper’'s Complaint Is Untimely.

An employee must exhaust administrative remedies béhoige a complaint
of discrimination undefitle VII of the Civil Rights ActandTitle | of the
Americans with Disabilities AcWilkerson v. Grinn¢lCorp., 270 F.3d 1314, 1317
(11th Cir. 2001) (Title VIl);seeMaynard v. Pneumatic Prods. Coy256 F.3d
1259, 1262 (11th Cir. 2001) (Americans with Disabilities Act). “The first step
down tHe] path [to exhaustion] is filing a timely charge of discrimination with the
[Commission].”"Wilkerson 270 F.3d at 1317. the Commission determinester

an investigatiorithat there is nbreasonable cause to believe that the charge is
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true, it shall dismiss the charge and promptly nbtihe employee42 U.S.C.
§ 2000e5(b). Whentheemployeereceives a notice of dismissal from the
Commissionshehas 90days to file a civil action against tkeenployer Id.
§ 2000e5(f)(1).

A regulation permgthe Commission to reconsider a decision to dismiss a
charge, 29 C.F.R. £01.19(b), but theffectof thatdecision on théiming for
filing a civil action depends on when the Commission isga@oticeof intent to
reconsiderlf the Commission issues a notice of intent to reconSwdénin 90
days offthe charging party’sijeceipt of the final no cause determinafiadhen the
iIssuance of thaotice “revoke[s] the charging party’s rightlhang suitwithin 90
days so long aghe charging party has not yet filed suit dragnot requestdand
receivel a notice otherright to sueld. But “[i]f the 90 day suit period has
expired,” then “the notice of intent to reconsider. .shall not revoke the chang
party’s right to sue in 90 daydd. When, after reconsideration, the Commission
issues a new determination, ofjlyn those circumstances where the charging
party’s right o bring suit in 90 days was revoked shall[the determination]
include notice that a new 90 day suit period shall begin upon the charging party’s
receipt of the determinationld.

Theregulation makes clear that t@@mmissioracked the authorityot

revive Stamper'sclaim of dscrimination; that is, neither tt@ommissiomor the
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Department of Justideadthe authority to issue Stamper a new notice of her right
to sue the Board. Stamper’s original notice of her right to sue was not revoked
when the Commission reconsidered dismissal of her administrative clibgge.
regulationcontemplates thissuanceof a new notice otheright to sueonly when
the originalnoticewas revoked, whicimeanghat the regulation does naitow the
Department of Justice to issue a new noticenefight to sue when the original
noticewasnotrevoked.SeeAntonin Scalia & BryamA. Garner,Reading LawThe
Interpretation of Legal Texts07 (2012) (T he expression of one thimgplies the
exclusion ofothers. . . .”). When the Commission issued Stam@enotice of intent
to reconsider after her originianitations periodor filing suit had expired, the
notice of intent to reconsider failed to revémmper’soriginal notice of herright
to sue within 90 days.

The regulation codified an equitable rule followed by our predecessor court
that the Commission could restart the running of the limitations period by issuing a
second notice of the right to sue only if the Commission issued a notice otantent
reconsider before the expiration of the original limitations petioGonzalez v.
Firestone Tire & Rubber Cpthe Fifth Circuitbalanced two competing
considerations thaioncernedvhether the Commission had the authority to issue a
second notice dheright to sue. 610 F.2d 241, 246 (5th Cir. 1980). On the one

hand,the courtexplainedthat granting authority to the Commission to issue a
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second right to sue “would vitiate the limitation periods mandated by Congress in
favor of adhoc determinationby the [Commission] See d. On the otherthe
courtconsideredhe fairness of allowing reconsideration “prior to the expiration of
the period in whichihe plaintiff could permissibly file suit under the first rigta-

sue notice.’ld. Our predecessowartheld that a notice of intent to reconsider
Issued by the Commission had no effect onrtimming of thdimitationsperiod

unless issued before the expiration of that petiddlwo of our sistecircuits
adoptedhatreasoningseelLute v. Singer Co678 F.2d 844, 846 (9th Cir. 1982)
(holding that the Commission htee authority to rescind a notice to sue only

when it “decides to reconsider and notifies all parties of its decision within 90 days
after it first issues a Notice of Right to SueTjuijillo v. Gen. Elec. Cq.621 F.2d

1084 1086-87 (10th Cir. 1980)same)

A decisionof the District of Columbia Circuiissued after the Commission
codifiedsection 1601.19(l@nd authored by thefudge Ruth Bader Ginsburalso
supportsour interpretatio. Dougherty v. Barrynvolved a group of firemen who
filed a chargef racial discrimination. 869 F.2d 60606-07 (D.C. Cir. 1989).

More than90 days after the Commissidismissedhe charge angdrovidedthe
firemennotice oftheirright to sue, th€ommission issued a notice of intent to
reconsiderld. at 607408. When the Justice Department later decided not to pursue

litigation, it issuedhe firemena second notice d@heirright to sue, and the firemen
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sued within90 days.Id. at 608.Judge Ginsbrg explained that reconsideration of a
chargeunder section 1601.19(b) “reopens the door to a private action only when
the reconsideration itself occurs within ninety days of the issuance of a right to sue
notice.”ld. at 610. Because the Commission netifthe fireman of its intent to
reconsider more than 90 days after the issuance of the first right to sue notice, “the
Commission’s reconsideration did not revive [the] right to slee And although
the regulation “does not advert to the effect of a second right to sue |dtigdge
Ginsburgexplained that “the regulation contemplatesthat second notices shall
issueonly when the [Commission] notifies complainants of its intent to reconsider
within ninety days of the first notice of right to sukd” at 616-11. As a result, the
second notice aheright to sue failed tgtart a new limitationperiod Id. at 611.
As in this appeal, the “issuance of a second right to sue letter do[es] not alter the
fact that the [Commission] did not notify [thieemer] of its intent to reconsider
the[] charges within ninety days of the first noticel.”For that reason, the D.C.
Circuit concluded thdft] he second notice. . should not work to recover a lost
right to sue.”ld.

Stamper argues that theticeshe received was not a notice of intent to
reconsider but instead was a “notice of revocation” that explicitly reviokeft st
notice oftheright to sue, but we disagree. Stamper received a notice of intent to

reconsiderThe noticestated thait was isued “[u]nder the authority vested” by
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section 1601.19(b), which governs notices of intent to reconsider. Atadat that
it “vacate[d]” the earlier dismissal of Stamper’s charge and “revoke[d] the letter
terminating processing of the charge,” which is consistent with the authority
granted to the Commission by section 1601.19(b) todteathe letter of
determination.” Stamper also fails to cite any statute or regulation that grants the
Commission the authority to issue a “notice of revocation” or otisemwacate a
notice oftheright to sue outside of the circumstanpesvidedin section
1601.19(b).

We agree with the district court ththe second notice of the right to sue
failed torevive Stamper’s limitation perio&ection 1601.19(lpermits the
issuance o& new notice of a right to sue only after the Commission issues a notice
of intent to reconsider before the expiration of the original limitations period.
Because the Commission issued Stamper a notice of intent to reconsider years after
her limitations period expired, the notice failed to revive her right to sue.

B. Stampe’s Psychiatric Condition Did Not Equitably Tdhe Limitations
Period

Stamper argues that even if her complaint is untimely, she is entitled to
equitable tolling because her catatonic schizophrenia prevented her from filing suit.
The timelyfiling requiremens of Title VII of the Civil Rights ActandTitle | of
the Americans with Disabilities A@renonjurisdictional and subject to equitable

tolling. Zipes v. Trans World Airlines, Ine55 U.S. 385, 393 (198Zillyette v.

10



Case: 15-11788 Date Filed: 07/18/2017 Page: 11 of 12

Capital One FinCorp., 179 F.3d 1337, 1342 (11th Cir. 199%quitable tolling
IS appropriate when a movant untimely files because of extraordinary
circumstances that are both beyond [her] control and unavoidable even with
diligence.”Sandvik v. United State$77 F.3d 1269, 1271 (11th Cir. 1998ental
incompetenceanbe an extraordinary circumstance thatrantsequitable tolling
If a plaintiff “establish[es] a causal connection between his allegadah
incapacity and his ability to file a timely petitior.awrence v. Florida421 F.3d
1221, 1226 (11th Cir. 2005) (emphasis addaff)j 549 U.S. 327 (2007But
Stamper bears the burden of proving that equitable tolling of the limitations period
is appropriateRoss v. Buckeye Cellulose Co@80 F.2d 648, 661 (11th Cir.
1993)

Stamper has failed to establish a causal connection between her
schizophrenia and hefelay in filing acomplaint Becausestamper stated that she
receivedthe letter “at ombout” March 2, 2009, the 9fay limitationsperiodbegan
to run on that datand expired on June 1, 200%e record belies any assertion
that Stamper’s medical condition prevented her from filing suit within the
limitations period Stamper testified at her deposition that when she received the
notice ofherright to sue from the Commission, she called an attdnoéine. She
stated that shenderstood that sh®ad four years to file in state court and 90 days

to file in federal court. On April 6, 2009, during the limitations period, she drove

11
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herselfto an appointment with her psychiatrisho noted in Stamper’s medical
recordthatalthough Stamper “had a blunted affect and a dysphoric mebd,”

was“oriented,” “happy,” “alert,”and spoke at a “normedte.” And Stamper

collected disability benefit;e March 2009and cashed her disability checks herself
until April 2009, when her mother was put in charge of her finafdesrecord

also contradictStamper’'sassertion thabermedical condition prevented her from
filing suit until January 18, 2013 hElast medical record Stamper submitted to the
district court datedAugust 23, 2010, describes Stamper as “cooperative,” speaking
at a normal rate, “alert,” “oriented” and “presérwWe cannot infer from ik record

that Stamper’s medical condition prevented her from filing suit. Stafajped to

establish she isntitled to equitable tolling.

V. CONCLUSION

We AFFIRM the judgment dismissing Stamper’s complaint with prejudice.
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